

MINUTES

COUNCIL

7.30 p.m. – 9.45 p.m.

25 November 2008

Present: Councillor Hooke (Lord Mayor), Arthur, Banham, Bearman, Blakeway, Blower, Bradford, Bremner, Brociek-Coulton, Collishaw, Driver, Dylan, Fairbairn, Fisher, George, Gihawi, Gledhill, Holmes, Jago, Jeraj, Lay, Little (A), Little (S), Llewellyn, Lubbock, Makoff, Morphew, Morrey, Offord, Ramsay, Read, Sands, Stephenson, Waters, Watkins, Wright,

Apologies: Councillors Divers and Wyatt

1. LORD MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Lord Mayor said that he understood Councillor Wyatt was still quite ill and he asked that Council's best wishes to Councillor Wyatt be recorded.

Since the last meeting he had attended the following –

- Presentation of two long service awards to Peter Goulding, who had worked for the Council for 28 years and Janet Keeley, who had worked for the Council for 32 years.
- The Eastern Evening News Local Heroes awards.
- Broadland District Council's civic reception.
- An exhibition by Norfolk art teachers.
- The 70th Anniversary celebrations of Norwich City Hall.
- A celebration of the work of David Croft (whose credits included writing Dad's Army) at the Epic Studios, Magdalen Street.
- Remembrance Day Service on 19 November and the 2 minutes silence on 11 November.
- BBC Children in Need events and he congratulated Bruce Bentley of the Planning Department who, with his partner TV presenter Jenny Kirk, had won a dancing competition.
- Lord Mayor's Business Reception.
- Celebration of 25 years of the local branch of Equity.
- A service in the Anglican Cathedral to remember the lives of those lost to drugs.
- A ceremony at the Belgium Embassy where the oldest living soldier from the First World War had received the King's Honour, the equivalent to our Knighthood.

- The Lord Mayor's quiz which had raised nearly £3,000 for the Lord Mayor's charity.
- The Christmas lights switch on.
- A conference on domestic violence.

2. QUESTIONS FORM THE PUBLIC

As both of the public questions related to Alternate Weekly Collections, the Lord Mayor said that the questions would be taken together and the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development would give one response.

Question 1

Graham Peirce for and on behalf of the Bracondale Residents' Association to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'Before the members of this Council unanimously voted to adopt the integrated waste management strategy policy, did they consider what impact the wheelie bin would have within the Conservation areas of this City and was it ever perceived that it would be yet another contributing factor in the erosion of Civic pride?

There have been numerous recent negative comments voiced in our local papers, in particular regarding the blue recycling bin which is in many instances is a permanent "in your face" feature of a property's front elevation. Bearing this in mind, does this Council have a solution or can it formulate one, which, whilst maintaining the concept of the IWMS, will placate the many residents of Norwich who are proud to be associated with this fine City?'

Question 2

Jonathan Clark to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'There have been reports and letters in the paper recently criticizing the Council's Alternate Weekly Collection Service. As a member of the public I would like to know if these reports are biased and for the Executive Member to give the facts about the AWC Service and whether he believes it is meeting the aims the Council set out to achieve.'

Councillor Brian Morrey, Executive for Sustainable City Development's reply:-

'The actions taken in implementing Alternate Weekly Collections and the choice of colour of the wheeled bins all stem from the formulation of the Integrated Waste Management Strategy. The decision to adopt the Integrated Waste Management Strategy in February 2007 was a practical response to Norwich's poor recycling performance and provides the framework by which new and challenging recycling targets can be achieved. In producing the strategy we learned from other authorities that such stepped changes in improvement can only come about by making radical changes to the existing recycling and refuse practices.

It is with pride that I can report to Council that our yearly recycling rate for September is 35% which is 12% higher than when AWC was introduced. It is something all our

residents can be proud of since without their contribution we could not make it happen.

I would add that the Strategy is not just about the colour of the bin or alternate weekly collections but also includes other key actions such as: -

- reducing the growth in household waste by promoting waste reduction and reuse initiatives – we have collected 2,000 tonnes less waste in the first six months of this year than in the same period last yea;
- (2) promotion of waste awareness through public education and awareness campaigns;
- (3) successful introduction of garden waste collections to nearly 8,000 subscribers;
- (4) one of the few authorities in the country to carry out a city-wide glass collection service;
- (5) working with our neighbours to implement the joint municipal waste strategy for Norfolk which is on track to achieve its targets for this year.

With regard to the colour of the bins discussions were held to see if the colour could be matched to our neighbouring authorities. However, it soon became apparent that differing authorities use different colours and there was no unified colour to distinguish recycling bins from refuse bins. In addition as we were already using green and black bins in other parts of the City for domestic waste a different colour was required. Using one of these colours would have lead to confusion over which bin was to be used. However, the colour blue did fit with the national campaigning to increase the country's performance in recycling. All national adverts and campaigning material have a theme of blue to them. So far it has worked very well; people know what the bin is for which is reflected in our performance in other areas. A recent audit of the material collected for recycling showed that our contamination rates are only 5.9%. Other Norfolk authorities who use black and green bins are running at between 6% and 10% contamination rates meaning that a larger percentage of our waste is actually recycled.

AWC was put in over three stages starting October 2007. Considering the magnitude of the change and the sensitivities of the subject, relatively few complaints have been received about AWC itself. What did stimulate the complaints in stage one and two were issues to do with the delivery of the bins and missed collections. What did surprise us in the first two stages was the unexpected number of people asking for smaller bins. During the first two stages we received few complaints about the colour of the bin from all tenures and styles of property whether in conservation, terraced or other kinds of areas - unlike this stage where for some reason it is different to the rest of Norwich. It must also be remembered that the colour choice was a cross party decision. The vast majority of contact with the council was about residents wanting to know more and clarify what they should be doing such as confirming collection days

With regard to the communications element Schaeffer who manufactured the bins have reported to us that within their trade circles they do mention our approach especially the door knocking as an exemplar to others.

It is unfair to concentrate on the negative aspects since some people have taken the time to write in commenting that the blue bins are a sign of success, rather than

failure. It is also interesting to note that since the advent of alternate weekly collections people have commented about how clean and tidy the rear access lanes have become. Rather than having piles of split black bags for foxes and cats to shred, all rubbish is now contained and collected in a fit manner. This is reflected in our last street cleanliness survey which shows that the percentage number of streets found to be dirty fell from 17% to just 6%

It was the intention of the Council through the action plan of the strategy to introduce alternate weekly collections to all possible areas. To this end an assessment was carried out to determine those houses having room for two wheeled bins whether or not the room was at the front or rear of the property. It is an unfortunate fact that if it is not made easy for people to recycle then they tend not to do it so well. It would appear that some complaints have been raised about the people storing their bins in their front garden; however, I would say that is down to the individual where they store their bins.

Civic Pride is more than bricks and mortar as it is about the world we live in, the natural environment and the wider community. I think that all residents can be proud that the City has taken a bold step and introduced AWC since we have made that step change and already exceeded our recycling targets of 32% for 2010 – some eighteen months earlier than anticipated. We cannot continue to throw our waste into landfill and need to encourage all our residents to participate as fully as possible to protect the environment and give them the means to do it. We recognise there is still along way to go if we are to be amongst the top performers in the country and realise that more difficult decisions will be needed if we are to achieve this ambition. In the meantime I do believe that the implementation of the action plan has so far more than met the aims which the council set out in its Integrated Waste Management Strategy.

We now have a full team and now the general queries are beginning to die down they are turning their attention to bins on streets, communal areas, large bin assessments and the like so if people have any concerns they are welcome to contact us and hopefully we can get things resolved.'

Graham Pierce asked, as a supplementary question, whether the Council had considered the effect on the conservation areas. **Councillor Morrey** said that the Council had taken this into account and the system had been introduced in other areas with no problem.

Jonathan Clark asked, as a supplementary question, what the effect of the current financial situation was on recycling materials. **Councillor Morrey** said that there were difficulties caused by the financial climate but the Council was in a relatively good situation because of the position with the current contracts and the fact that the Council's contractor had a number of markets for materials. He highlighted the difficulties in the position regarding recycling materials in that mixed paper was achieving a price of £35 per tonne 4 weeks earlier but in the current situation contractors now had to pay £32 for it to be taken!

3. MINUTES

RESOLVED to agree the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2008, subject to Councillors Blower and Fisher being added to the list of those present.

4. QUESTIONS TO EXECUTIVE MEMBERS/COMMITTEE CHAIRS

The Lord Mayor advised members that 20 questions, including one relating to urgent matters, from Members of the Council to Executive Members and Committee Chairs, had been received of which notice had been given in accordance within the provisions of Appendix 1 of the Council's Constitution. The questions were as follows:-

- **Question 1** Councillor Dylan to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance regarding the installation of solar panels on the roof of City Hall.
- **Question 2** Councillor Ramsay to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance on promotion of a Living Wage for the City.
- **Question 3** Councillor Gledhill to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development with regard to Phase 3 of the roll out of alternative weekly collections.
- **Question 4** Councillor S Little to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development relating to the notification of residents regarding alternative weekly collections.
- **Question 5** Councillor Stephenson to the Leader of the Council regarding the date of the Switch On of the Christmas Lights.
- **Question 6** Councillor Jago to the Leader of the Council regarding clarification of the areas of responsibility covered by Executive Members portfolios.
- **Question 7** Councillor Llewellyn to the Executive Member for Housing, Adults and Older People regarding local authorities building affordable housing.
- **Question 8** Councillor Makoff to the Executive Member for Housing, Adults and Older People improvements to Council housing properties.
- **Question 9** Councillor Holmes to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance on the role of the Council and compliance with the Disability Discrimination Act.
- Question 10 Councillor Offord to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development with regard to the opening of the footpath from St Leonard's Terrace to Gas Hill.
- Question 11 Councillor Jeraj to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance regarding the implementation of the Lifelong Learning Agreement with Council staff.

- Question 12 Councillor Fisher to the Executive Member for Neighbourhood Development regarding officer support for Catton Grove Tenant Residents' Association.
- Question 13 Councillor Wyatt to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development with regard to Clover Hill Road resurfacing and problems of street maintenance.
- Question 14 Councillor A Little to the Executive Member for Young People Services and Involvement regarding the Executive's position regarding Academies at Heartsease and Earlham.
- **Question 15** Councillor George to the Executive Member for Children and Young People regarding the progress of a Skate Park for Norwich.
- Question 16 Councillor Collishaw to the Executive Member for Neighbourhood Development requesting information on plans to improve Pointers' Field.
- Question 17 Councillor Lubbock to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development regarding rollout of alternative weekly collections in the Golden Triangle.
- Question 18 Councillor Fairbairn to the Executive Member of Corporate Resources and Governance regarding the refurbishment of St Andrew's and Blackfriars' Halls.
- **Question 19** Councillor Wright to the Leader of the Council regarding the 'Sparks in the Parks' event at Earlham Park and damage caused by the weather conditions.
- Question 20 (Question relating to urgent matters (Appendix 1, Rule 12.3 (ii)) Councillor Bearman to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development regarding the how the Council dealt with snow the previous weekend.

(Details of the questions and replies together with any supplementary questions and replies are attached at Appendix A to these minutes.)

5. MOTION – SOCIAL HOUSING

Councillor Lubbock moved the motion and said that she agreed to accept the following amendment proposed by Councillor Arthur:-

'To add a new resolution:-

(3) use the strong partnership arrangements which Norwich City Council has developed with local Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) to continue to work with these RSLs to identify local solutions to enable unused or unsold private housing to be used for social housing.'

With no members objecting, this then became part of the substantive motion.

Councillor Fairbairn seconded the amended motion.

Councillor Llewellyn moved and Councillor Jeraj seconded the following amendment:-

'In relation to part (1) of the resolution, to delete 'from building companies', 'and help the property sector, using existing funding streams or' and 'asking the government to relax borrowing rules, allowing councils and social landlords to borrow against their assets to fund such a scheme' and replace with a new point (2) as follows 'ask the government to relax borrowing rules so that councils can borrow for housing as registered social landlords can at present.

That the wording of the final section of the motion to read:-

Council resolves to ask the Executive to:

- (1) explore the possibility of this Council buying up unsold properties and sites in order to replenish the social housing stock;
- (2) ask the government to relax borrowing rules so that councils can borrow for housing as registered social landlords can at present;
- (3) (wording to continue as from point (2) of the original motion.)'

On being put to the vote with 13 voting in favour and 22 voting against the motion was lost.

RESOLVED, unanimously, that:-

'This Council notes:

- the amount of social housing nationally has dwindled from 4.386 million social homes to rent in England in 1997 to just 3.936 million social homes in 2006 while the number of households on social housing waiting lists has risen almost 70% to 1.67 million;
- that, according to the National Housing Federation (NHF), one in every 16 households in the East of England are on a social housing waiting list;
- the last year has seen a steady rise in the number of people on social housing lists in Norwich;
- that many newly built flats and houses in the City are unsold or have been left empty due to the sharp economic downturn and associated problems;
- the policy of Newcastle City Council to buy houses on a new private development, which was in severe financial trouble, and make the homes available for affordable rents.

Council resolves to ask the Executive to:

- (1) explore the possibility of this Council buying up unsold properties and sites from building companies in order to replenish the social housing stock and help the property sector, using existing funding steams or asking the government to relax borrowing rules, allowing councils and social landlords to borrow against their assets to fund such a scheme;
- (2) open communication with private developers to see if localised solutions can be found to enable unused or unsold private housing to be used as social housing.
- (3) use the strong partnership arrangements which Norwich City Council has developed with local Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) to continue to work with these RSLs to identify local solutions to enable unused or unsold private housing to be used for social housing.'

6. MOTION – NORTHERN DISTRIBUTOR ROAD

Councillor Morphew moved and Councillor Morrey seconded the motion.

RESOLVED, with 22 voting for, 1 against, and 12 abstentions, that:-

"This Council:

- notes that development of jobs and homes is crucial for the prosperity of the city and the wellbeing of those who live here now and will make their homes here in the future;
- recognises that it is important to provide the necessary infrastructure to ensure that we provide not just homes and jobs but create new and enhance existing communities to provide a high quality of life.

To that end Council resolves to:

- (1) confirm its commitment to the Norwich Area Transport Strategy (NATS) and support for the Northern Distributor Road that is a key part of the NATS strategy. The NDR is an essential part of creating access to locations suitable for sustainable expansion and providing an opportunity to deal with many of the traffic problems faced by city residents.
- (2) confirm the importance of the other NATS measures to improve and enable growth in the urban area and urban extensions, i.e:
 - Improved public transport including high quality services and priority measures;
 - Reduction of traffic speeds in residential areas
 - Walking and cycling infrastructure;
 - Improvements in the City Centre; and
 - Protection of residential areas.

and these should either be delivered where possible before the NDR is built or delivered as part of an integrated programme alongside the NDR and not left as a promise that might remain unfulfilled.

- (3) support the assurances being sought from the GNDP that projects which deliver non NDR measures in NATS will be given equal consideration for funding (e.g. through the Integrated Development Programme).
- (4) recognise the critical importance of other infrastructure investment and therefore support the policy of the Executive in pursuing priority for other infrastructure measures to ensure that the needs of residents in new and existing communities are addressed through the Greater Norwich Development Partnership such as:
 - skills education and training (including schools);
 - community provision including leisure centres, sports facilities, allotments etc
 - green infrastructure including open spaces;
 - cultural facilities; and
 - emergency and medical services."

7. MOTION – SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITIES ACT

Councillor Watkins moved and Councillor Wright seconded the motion.

RESOLVED, unanimously, that:-

"This Council:

- supports the bottom up process described in the Sustainable Communities Act, which is designed to aid local communities to direct central government assistance towards reversing community decline;
- notes that the Act gives local authorities the power to:-
 - (a) make proposals to government on the action and assistance government must take or give to promote sustainable communities; and
 - (b) argue for a transfer of public money and function from central to local control.

In the light of the Council's stated intention to make full use of the powers, this Council, therefore, resolves to ask the Executive to:-

- (1) use the Act by preparing and submitting proposals on how central government can help by 31 July 2009;
- (2) inform the local media of this decision;

- (3) write to local MPs, informing them of this decision;
- write to Local Works (at Local Works, c/o Unlock Democracy, 6 Cynthia St, London N1 9JF) informing them of the Council's resolution to use the Act; and,
- (5) strongly encourage any new Council representing the Norwich area to continue to make full use of the powers."

The Lord Mayor asked, as 2 hours had passed since the commencement of the meeting, whether any of the remaining items could be taken as unopposed business. Members agreed that item 8 below could be taken as unopposed and that the remaining motion on the agenda relating to "Campus Norwich" be considered at the next Council meeting.

8. MOTION – PRE - PAYMENT METERS

RESOLVED, as unopposed business, that:-

"This Council notes that:

- energy customers who pay for their gas and electricity using a prepayment meter pay a premium to heat and light their homes. In some cases they can pay up to £70 more per year than customers who pay by quarterly bills and up to £300 more than customers paying by online direct debits.
- Ofgem acknowledges that most pre-payment meter customers are on the lowest incomes. It is clear that the market penalises customers who have to use these meters to budget or to pay off debt.
- Chancellor Alistair Darling has called on energy suppliers and Ofgem to come up with a fairer deal for the 5 million pre-payment meter users while the Energy Minster stated that these extra costs "seem totally disproportionate.
- the National Housing Federation (NHF) is spearheading a campaign lobbying for energy providers to remove the punitive excess that prepayment users face. As part of this initiative NHF recently carried out a YouGov poll which showed that 80% of the public want the Chancellor to stop energy companies from charging pre-payment meter customers higher premiums.
- we believe that the additional payments made by those using pre payment meters flies in the face of financial inclusion and mitigates against people who are trying to budget.
- in Solihull Housing (a three star ALMO) an affinity agreement has been established with Ebico a non profit energy supplier whose fair price structure is irrespective of income, circumstances or how the customer prefers to pay.

Council, therefore, resolves to:-

- welcome the Executive's intention to respond to Ofgem's current consultation and strongly voices this council's opposition to the additional charges levied on prepay customers;
- (2) encourage other organisations and individuals to respond to the consultation;
- (3) support the National Housing Federation's campaign;
- (4) request that the Leader writes to the Energy Minister urging him to end this inequality once and for all by compelling energy suppliers to equalise their pre-payment meter tariffs to the best quarterly bill tariffs (removing the poverty premium) and forcing them to severely reduce the differential pre-payment meter tariffs and direct debits;
- (5) ask the Executive to look into the options offered by the energy provider Ebico, and other non profit energy suppliers."

LORD MAYOR

APPENDIX A

QUESTIONS TO EXECUTIVE MEMBERS AND CHAIRS OF COMMITTEES

Question 1

Councillor Tom Dylan to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance:-

'Can the Executive and the Premises Review Group please investigate funding options for the installation of solar panels on the City Hall roof? This would be a great investment for the Council and a good way for the Council to help promote renewable energy.'

Councillor Alan Waters, Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance's reply :-

'Renewable energy for City Hall is a key feature of the corporate objective to finalise the assessment of the development opportunities for the City Hall site. This review is overseen by the Premises Review Group. The outcome of the review would be expected to bring forward a comprehensive programme that would create many opportunities to really make a difference, and measures to reduce the 'footprint' of the building will be a key part of the recommendations.

There are a number of opportunities where the Council can take a step forwards in increasing use of renewable energy, and there is a developing programme that will enable the Council to step through measures that enable the 'quick wins' to be prioritised. We are aiming to achieve the 6% year on year reduction target we have agreed as part of the Carbon Trusts Local Authority Carbon Management programme.'

Question 2

Councillor Adrian Ramsay to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance:-

'What progress has the Executive made in promoting a Living Wage for the city? I believe the next stage in the process is for a study to be conducted to establish the hourly rate of pay for a Living Wage in Norwich. When will this study be completed?'

Councillor Alan Waters, Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance's reply :-

'The Executive has identified financial inclusion as one of its key priorities. It is one very important strand of the Labour administration's strategy to sustain the local economy in these very difficult times. I'm sure Councillor Ramsay will also be supportive of major building and infrastructure projects like completing the dualling of the A11 and the Northern City Centre Action Plan as a means of strengthening the

Norwich economy and providing much needed employment during the economic downturn.

Members will be aware of the financial climate which is not only affecting the residents of Norwich, but people across the world. There are significant challenges in Norwich.

The number of people experiencing Income deprivation has increased between 2004 and 2007, the date that the Norwich needs analysis was undertaken. The figures below show the number of people experiencing income and employment deprivation.

Income and Employment Scale in 2007 and 2004 Number of people experiencing deprivation

	2007	2004
Income Scale	24,239	21,460
Income Deprivation Affecting Children	6,501	6,413
Income Deprivation Affecting Old People	5,257	4,720
Source: OCSI (2008) from IMD 2007 and IMD 2004		

- In 2007 there are more people experiencing income deprivation than in 2004.
- The number of people in income deprivation is 24,239 in 2007 and was 21,460 in 2004.
- Young children experiencing income deprivation have increased from 6,413 in 2004 to 6,501 in 2007.
- Similarly the number of old people experiencing income deprivation has grown from 4,720 to 5,257.
- The number of people experiencing employment deprivation has increased marginally. There are 9,539 people experiencing deprivation in 2007 as compared to 9,339 in 2004.

The Executive is quite rightly investigating the role the City Council has as a service provider but also in its city leadership role to work with existing and new partners to promote and support financial inclusion.

There are a number of needs that are likely to require addressing, not all of which are in the control of the council however the Executive will be working with partners with the aim to address them:

- Increased access to financial services
- Increased access to free financial advice
- Increased access to affordable credit

Officers are looking at best practice from across the country to help shape the Council's response to these issues.

If I can give some examples of current work:

An officer financial inclusion group has come together to identify gaps and barriers to the Council's service provision and this will shortly extend to the work of our partners.

Through this work officers are now ensuring that the Council's delivery is better linked. One example is to ensure that the money advice team who provide advice to tenants are able to provide information on the services available from credit unions.

We are working with the local credit unions to evaluate their work to identity what is needed to extend and develop their activity

Councillor Ramsay refers to the living wage which I am a passionate advocate of and we are aware of issues faced by our residents who suffer from in work poverty.

We do know that:

- Resident weekly earnings in Norwich District are below county, regional and national averages. Norwich is among the 10% of local authorities in the country with the lowest median earnings
- The lowest earners in Norwich earn only one-fifth the median national wage.

Here the Council has a role as an employer, as a purchaser of contract work and as a community leader.

Some early calculations of a Norwich living wage have been undertaken but further refinement is required so that the Council and partners can make use of it.

We know a number of national businesses are committed to the living wage and we are investigating how we can work with them at the Norwich level to champion and promote the concept of the living wage.

The Executive has requested that a "fair wage" is one of the social and environmental areas that should be explored in relation to the service provision procured through the re-let of the Council's contracts.

I very much hope that Councillor Ramsay and the Green group will not only support the Living Wage Strategy which I have outlined but the broader range of initiatives for the well-being of the city which are featured in the Council's Corporate Plan.'

Councillor Adrian Ramsay asked, as a supplementary question, when the Living Wage Study would be complete? **Councillor Alan Waters** said that the 'mapping' exercise would be complete early in the New Year. The data collected would be useful in a number of ways. The Council would also be doing a benefits 'take up' campaign. Councillors would be kept informed of developments.

Question 3

Councillor Bob Gledhill to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'All parties supported the principle of introducing alternate weekly collections to significantly increase recycling rates and reduce the amount of waste being sent to landfill. However, the details of how such a scheme is introduced are crucial. Green Councillors have raised with officers problems on a number of roads in the phase three area where wheelie bins have been left on pavements since they were distributed, blocking pedestrian access. But these problems affect many streets in the phase three area, so please could it be a priority for officers to conduct a walkabout on all streets in the phase three area and speak to residents who are permanently leaving their bins on the pavement to find out why and address any problems (such as requests for smaller bins not having been actioned).'

Councillor Brian Morrey, Executive Member for Sustainable City Development's reply:-

'All parties on the Council signed up to the Integrated Waste Strategy which laid out how the Council would increase its recycling rate by introducing AWC in all possible areas. The whole document was fully supported not just in principle and in affirmation of this support was signed by all four political leaders.

The Council has recognised that in some areas there would be problems in Stage 3 with bins being left on pavements. When the bins were delivered clear guidance was given at the same time asking residents not to set-out their bins before 18:00 on the day prior to collection and no later than 07:00 on collection day. These receptacles should be returned to the property as soon as possible after collection and no later than 09:00 on the day following collection. Collections are a kerbside service from the front of the property.

As areas have been brought to our attention officers have visited and have taken action. York Street, Gloucester Street, Carlyle Street and Grosvenor Road come to mind where work has taken place to remove unwanted bins from the streets. This work has involved door knocking and letter drops advising residents of the need to take in their bins.

For those that are unable to get their bins out due to incapacity the Council does offer an assisted collection service whereby the bin will be picked up from its normal storage point and returned once emptied. I would urge those that are having such difficulties to contact us and we will visit and assess peoples needs.

I have raised the issues with the appropriate officers who will visit where possible to ensure all unwanted bins are removed. If, in the mean time there are areas that need to be visited urgently please let us know so appropriate action can be taken.

Finally I note with regret that whilst all parties are signatories to the Strategy the Leader of the Green Group recently refused to sign a letter intended for all Group Leaders to sign for publication explaining the current position and seeking to reassure residents that problems were being addressed positively. It does not suggest much substance to the commitment of Green Councillors when it

evaporates on the first occasion their Leader is called upon to demonstrate some shared leadership'.

Councillor Bob Gledhill asked, as a supplementary question, whether the Executive Member could ensure that officers would be available to resolve problems where they still existed? **Councillor Brian Morrey** said that, as Councillor Gledhill should know from his fellow Green councillors who were on the Waste Management Working Party, officers were available to respond to people's queries and concerns.

Question 4

Councillor Stephen Little to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'While fully supportive of the AWC and delighted at the resulting increase in recycling rates, many locations have experienced problems with its introduction. To take one example - at the time of writing, parts of Regina Road have not had any sort of waste collection for a month. Despite calls from residents prompting an emergency collection, only some of the bins were emptied. Multiple bins have been placed in various locations around the site but residents have not been consulted on these arrangements nor informed as to which particular bins are for their use. The door-knocking that officers have been doing appears to have omitted Regina Road and residents have not received the AWC booklet or the full list of collection days. Confusion has also been caused by twice altering the collection day within the space of three weeks and misleading information as to the colour of the glass bins. In the light of this, can the council ensure that residents are fully informed and consulted in respect of the new arrangements, that concerns about the siting and form of the bins are adequately considered and, where appropriate, acted on and, finally, that waste and recycling collections of all bins take place on the specified day?'

Councillor Brian Morrey, Executive Member for Sustainable City Development's reply:-

'When implementing the AWC service it has always been stressed that there will not be a 'one-size-fits-all' approach especially when considering how best to provide our services to residents of flats, such as those on Regina Road. As a result individual solutions are tailored for each location and these solutions can include weekly collections, communal facilities, individual bins and various combinations according to the volumes of waste produced and any operational issues (such as access restrictions). In the case of Regina Road it was determined that the most appropriate solution would be for communal refuse and recycling facilities using 360 litre wheeled bins.

Since the Council has adopted an individual approach to areas where flats predominate, they have been deliberately left out of the door-knocking programme. The AWC literature is specific to one solution (i.e. a blue recycling bin and a black waste bin) and is therefore inappropriate and potentially confusing to residents of flats.

Instead officers wrote all residents of Regina Road explaining the new service, explaining the service to replace the existing arrangements and detailing collection days for waste and recycling. This letter was dated 6th November and explained that

the first collections under the new service would occur on the following Wednesday, 12th November.

The collection day has always been a Wednesday and, whilst the collections have changed to alternate weeks for waste and recycling the collection day has remained as Wednesday. This information was clearly stated in the letters sent to all residents.

Confusion may have been caused by a slight delay in the siting of the glass recycling bins, however, as soon as officers were aware this was rectified. The site has recently been inspected and I can confirm that the bins are being emptied regularly on the specified day.

No record can be found of any missed collections having been reported for the months of October or November. Likewise there are no records of an emergency call-out to empty the bins. I am concerned about the discrepancy in the records and what Councillor Little says in his question so if he would like to provide details of dates and times when contact has been made I will ensure that they are followed up.'

Councillor Stephen Little said that the Executive Member seemed happy that residents in flats with communal areas did not receive the same level of information as others and asked, as a supplementary question, whether these inconsistencies would be rectified? **Councillor Morrey** reminded Councillor Stephen Little that the Waste Management Working Party had a communications strategy that had been approved by members of all parties, including two minority group leaders, and no-one had suggested that any change in the communications strategy was required.

Question 5

Councillor Claire Stephenson to the Leader of the Council:-

'Last year Councillor Gledhill asked a question about the timing of the switch-on of the Christmas Lights. Brenda Ferris replied that the date was decided by a "compromise" between the Council and other partners, some of whom were presumably in favour of "switching on" on an earlier date. Did a similar negotiation take place this year, and if so, what was the Council's preferred option?'

Councillor Steve Morphew, Leader of the Council's reply:-

'The timing of Christmas Switch On has been agreed as the third Thursday in November each year. This was agreed two years ago and has remained so since then.

It is disappointing that Councillor Stephenson seems to be looking for conflict between us and our partners. I hope she does not feel too let down that at this time when we both need to support business in the city and when people are starting to get in the mood for Christmas the City Council is supporting business and making the city look festive.' **Councillor Claire Stephenson** asked a supplementary question about the different versions of discussions on preferred options. **Councillor Steve Morphew** said that if Councillor Stephenson had asked this as part of her original question he may have been able to answer it.

Question 6

Councillor Howard Jago to the Leader of the Council:-

'A number of titles of Council Executive members' portfolios are far from selfexplanatory. For example, a member of the public looking at the Council's website and trying to find out which Executive member is responsible for, say, Norwich Market will not find many clues from the list. Could the Council produce and publicise a list of Executive members along with an easily understood list of their responsibilities?'

Councillor Steve Morphew, Leader of the Council's reply:-

'I thank Councillor Jago for his helpful suggestion which has already been taken up. Information clarifying the areas covered by each portfolio holder has been produced and the website has been updated accordingly. This isn't an exhaustive list as it can't cover every single aspect of Council services but it highlights the main areas the public will be interested in.'

Question 7

Councillor Tom Llewellyn to the Executive Member for Housing, Adults and Older People:-

'Given the apparent openness of central government to councils building their own homes, and given - following difficulties - the stalling of Norwich City Council's plans to do this, what are officers doing to petition government to legislate for a clear and feasible process by which we can build our own homes again?'

Councillor Brenda Arthur, Executive Member for Housing, Adults and Older People's reply:-

'In 2007, the government enabled councils to apply for partnering status with the Housing Corporation (HC). Officers put a proposal together to enable the council to bid for grant in their own right and potentially build their own homes. In July 2007, NCC subsequently became the first stock retaining local authority with the ability to do so. Over the following months, housing officers worked with colleagues in financial and legal services to build on the proposal and create a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV), by which new affordable housing could be delivered.

Whilst it is recognised that the route the Council would need to take to set up the SPV was a complex one, this was by no means the deciding factor in our decision not to pursue this project at this time. Building new Council Homes has been a manifesto pledge for this administration and remains so.

Because Housing Corporation grant rates are so low, at around £41k per unit, it would be necessary for the Council to build both shared ownership and even market

housing in order to cross subsidise any rented units. In the current economic climate there is a real risk that these units would not sell, therefore placing the Council at considering financial risk. Nationally some 9,000 housing association shared ownership and first time buyer homes are sitting unsold.

Officers have been very active in lobbying the Housing Corporation to increase grant rates, not just because of the Council's intention to build new Council homes but because our housing association partners have been struggling to make schemes viable because of these low rates. This is particularly pertinent in Norwich where many of the schemes being brought forward on Council owned housing land are expensive because they are small and in many cases the land requires considerable remedial work before building can start.

Council officers are dedicated to increasing the supply of affordable housing in the city and as such will continue to explore every opportunity to achieve this. This week an announcement has been made that some 1,000 new affordable homes have been enabled in Norwich since this administration came to power. This is an achievement of which we are understandably proud. Officers will continue to hold an open dialogue with their colleagues at the Housing Corporation and from the 1st December, the Homes and Communities Agency on the future of councils building again. We are confident that whilst the credit crunch is impacting on our ability under the current regime, there may well be a role for local authorities in kick starting the struggling housing market.'

Councillor Tom Llewellyn asked, as a supplementary question, whether there was uncertainty over ownership of any new properties built through an SPV and if the Council would be willing to talk to central government about the need for a clear and feasible process? **Councillor Brenda Arthur** said that this matter had arisen before she had been appointed as Executive Member. She would discuss the matter with officers and respond to Councillor Llewellyn.

Question 8

Councillor Ruth Makoff to the Executive Member for Housing, Adults and Older People:-

'Green Councillors have become aware of a number of instances where tenants have been promised improvements to their homes and later told that the improvements will not happen for a couple of years. For example, although some windows have been replaced at Godric Place, some residents who were initially told that their windows would be replaced were subsequently told that they would only be fixed and then replaced in a couple of years, and some tenants in the Old Palace Road area have told us that promised replacement of their kitchens or bathrooms has been delayed. How many tenants have been affected by delays in improvements to their properties, and have there been any delays to the date that the Council expects all its homes to meet the Decent Homes Standard?'

Councillor Brenda Arthur, Executive Member for Housing, Adults and Older People's reply:-

'There have been no delays to the original window replacement programme which was agreed in 2005. Indeed this administration felt that the original replacement

programme was going to take too long and so invested a further £7million into the work in order to bring the end date forward from 2015 to 2012. In revising the programme decisions were taken to focus the additional spending on areas of deprivation but that in doing we would ensure that no tenant was worse off in terms of having their windows replaced. This was achieved with many properties being brought forward in the programme and others remaining the same. The bringing forward of some properties this year has resulted in a slight delay due to the length of the normal planning application process for flats. Normally planning applications are made in the year prior to the work being carried out in order to ensure a seamless programme of work. However, as outlined above, the timing of the decision to bring properties forward from this year onwards has meant that the planning applications were not made last year and in some cases have resulted in a delay of up to 6 months to the revised drafts.

There have also been a few instances recently where tenants were under the impression their windows were being replaced earlier than programmed. These instances seem to relate back to conversations with officers in 2005 before there was an agreed window programme in place. In the few instances where this has occurred an apology has been offered but it has also been made clear that the

programme drafted in 2005 is the only programme the council has had for window replacements, and as mentioned above this has for some been accelerated and for others has remained the same.

Similarly the programme to replace kitchens and bathrooms as part of the decent homes programme has not been delayed. As with the windows a survey and works programme was drafted in 2005/06.

To identifying properties that require replacement kitchens or bathrooms in order to meet the decent homes standard involves a survey is carried out by one of the council's asset surveyors. These surveys are undertaken during the year prior to the work being carried out. So this year asset surveyors have been surveying properties that may be in next years programme of work.

All properties in a neighbourhood are surveyed in order to identify whether they need any work carried out to meet the standard. In some cases even though a tenant may think they need a new kitchen or bathroom their homes meet the required standard and so we will not undertake any work. At the survey stage it is made clear that this is not an indication that work will be carried out. The surveyor makes it clear that until all properties are surveyed we will not have a clear picture of what work is required. Prior to a survey a tenant receives a letter informing them that a survey will take place. This letter informs them that a survey does not mean work will be carried out.

It would appear that some tenants are becoming confused and assume that as a survey is being carried out they are definitely having their kitchen or bathroom replaced. We will therefore be reviewing the letter we send so as to make the process clearer.

The Council is on target to meet the Decent Homes Standard by 2010. I receive monthly reports and quarterly progress reports are supplied to Go-East who are satisfied that we will meet our target. However when tenants choose overwhelmingly to stay with the council, welcome as it remains, it also poses us problems as a landlord into the future beyond just decent homes standards. What replaces that standard is as yet unknown but we are clear the decent homes standard does not reflect tenant's aspirations or the quality of homes we would want to provide for our tenants. Inevitably much of the stock that has gone under the right to buy is the more desirable property in better condition leaving a lot of older and more demanding stock. Some of the stock is reaching the end of its life and we will have to balance the costs of extending its life against the opportunities for regeneration that this could open up. Work is underway to examine how to approach this challenge for the next 30 years and we are about to start a preliminary dialogue with the City Wide Board as the first stage of including tenants in deciding the way forward.'

Councillor Ruth Makoff asked, as a supplementary question, whether the Executive Member would check why residents have received incorrect information? **Councillor Brenda Arthur** said that this had been addressed in her original reply.

Question 9

Councillor Adrian Holmes to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance:-

'What measures could the Council take to encourage shops, food outlets and other business premises to comply with the Disability Discrimination Act?'

Councillor Alan Waters, Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance's reply:-

'The DDA came into force on 1st October 1994.

It applies to all employers and anyone who provides a service to the public.

The Act is not enforced by the Council and any aggrieved person pursues the matter through the Tribunal process.

Although the Council has no statutory duty to enforce or seek compliance with the legislation by other employers or service providers, during the normal activities of the food safety and health and safety inspection programmes advice is given which supports the principles of the Act.'

Councillor Adrian Holmes asked, as a supplementary question, whether the Council had a designated access officer and whether businesses could get information from a council on up to date legislation? **Councillor Alan Waters** said that a shorter route for Councillor Holmes to get this information would be to ask the officers direct. He said that the Council did not currently have an access officer. The Council had an obligation to be DDA compliant and did seek to advise on obligations.

Question 10

Councillor Peter Offord to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'In June I asked when the Council would be carrying out maintenance work to, and then re-opening, the footpath that leads from St. Leonard's Terrace to Gas Hill. This issue remains a key concern for local residents. What progress has been made in addressing it?'

Councillor Brian Morrey, Executive Member for Sustainable City Development's reply:-

'Further investigations have taken place; however, this has been recently stalled due to a staff vacancy.

The issue is not about maintenance so much as ground movement below and adjacent to the highway. As this is a structural matter it also necessarily involves Norfolk County Council. Restoration of the footway is a potentially contentious matter involving engineering difficulties, significant expenditure and potential litigation to apportion any liability.

Officers are developing options to resolve the matter and hope to update local Members early in the New Year.'

Councillor Peter Offord asked, as a supplementary question, whether the Council was liaising with utility companies? **Councillor Brian Morrey** said that Councillor Offord should ask such questions of officers or have included it in his original question. He would have then received a quicker response. Councillor Morrey would get back to him.

Question 11

Councillor Samir Jeraj to the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance:-

What work has been done by the Council to implement its Lifelong Learning Agreement with its staff?

Councillor Alan Waters, Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance's reply:-

'The Steering Group for Lifelong Learning has been set up and has had its inaugural meeting and will be meeting on a monthly basis. The steering Group is made up of equal numbers of Council representatives and representatives of Unison.

A Chair and Vice Chair have been appointed by the Council and Unison to the Group for the coming year.

Employees have completed a lifelong learning questionnaire which identifies learning needs and preferred learning styles and this information is being analysed to focus on what learning employees would like.

The Steering Group have identified that funding is required to deliver lifelong learning initiatives and a bid is currently being made for budget allocation as part of the normal budget round.

A number of potential areas of learning have been identified by the Steering Groups as a starting point such as English and mathematics modules, languages, personal first aid, health and fitness and personal stress management workshops.

The Steering Group have been discussing how to raise awareness of lifelong learning and a report is being prepared for leadership group around this.'

Councillor Samir Jeraj asked, as a supplementary question, whether the bid for budget allocation was safe or not? **Councillor Alan Waters** said that any need for further resources would be considered as part of the budget discussions.

Question 12

Councillor John Fisher to the Executive Member for Neighbourhood Development:-

'Is the Executive Member aware of the current situation with the Catton Grove Tenant Residents Association (TRA) in that they feel so let down with the lack of support that they are very near to folding as an organization and what does the Executive Member propose to do the prevent this happening?'

Councillor Linda Blakeway, Executive Member for Neighbourhood Development's reply:-

'Catton Grove Tenants and Residents Association is a group which I am very familiar with through my involvement with the group as Chair of the Mile Cross / Catton Grove SNAP panel and as volunteer at the Catton Grove Community Centre. I have attended a number of the TRA's meetings and I am aware of the frustrations that the group have at present and sympathise with their situation.

To address concerns such as those raised by the Catton Grove TRA, a new Community Engagement Team has been developed which combines the functions of the previous Community Development and Tenant Participation teams. The Community Engagement Team will have a number of objectives to fulfil including –

- To strengthen, develop and sustain opportunities for local people and groups to influence what happens in their communities
- To provide opportunities for communities to shape and influence the development and delivery of services and policies which reflect local needs and priorities
- To manage and co-ordinate engagement activities to ensure consistency, quality and partner participation
- To ensure that community engagement activities provide opportunities for participation for all sections of the community

• To listen to communities and ensure feedback to participants about the outcomes of consultation and engagement

The new Community Engagement Team will consist of seven Community Engagement Officers and one Community Engagement Manager. Each Community Engagement Officer will be responsible for geographic 'patch' and will work closely with all community groups operating within this patch, this will ensure consistency, facilitate networking between community groups and will enable community volunteers to gain support from an appropriately skilled officer.

The Community Engagement Team will go 'live' on 1st December and one of the first tasks for officers will be meet with community groups and assess what support they need. In the case of Catton Grove TRA this may include additional support and training for those officers who will service the meetings to enable them to carry out their responsibilities more effectively, work with members of the TRA to help establish aims and objectives for the group, work to raise community awareness of the TRA and increase attendance at meetings and work with partner organisations to ensure that the TRA is recognised within wider community networks.

Over the past few weeks I have spoken with several members of the Catton Grove TRA, they have shared their concerns with me and in turn I have shared with them the aims of the new Community Engagement Team and how they will be able to offer support to the group in future. I have advised group members not to consider folding the group at this stage as the Council is now able to offer the assistance they require and I would hope that Councillor Fisher will also offer the group this advice and supports their future development.'

Councillor John Fisher said that last August officers said that support for TRAs would be imminent and asked, as a supplementary question, when does the Council intend to offer training to residents? **Councillor Linda Blakeway** said that some of the people recruited to the team had to give 3 months notice. She agreed that training was an issue and said that now that the team was in place this would be looked at.

Question 13

Councillor John Wyatt to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'When Clover Hill Road was resurfaced recently, some stones became loose as I understand is normal. Usually the road sweeper picks these up on their rounds but in some cases, where for example parked cars are, they are missed. Residents have since told me that their car windscreens have been damaged by these stones being thrown up by other moving vehicles. Shouldn't the council being doing more to avoid this happening in terms of clearing up the stones, or at least more to ensure that cars are moved so that the sweepers can do their jobs?'

Councillor Brian Morrey, Executive Member for Sustainable City Development's reply:-

'Clover Hill Road was surface dressed earlier this year. The process effectively seals the road with a thin polymer layer and small stones to help preserve its life. The stones are rolled into the polymer and the road is swept within 24 hours by the surface dressing contractor. A further sweep is carried out by request.

The life of a road can be prolonged by 10 years through this process and, with limited resources, it is a cost effective maintenance technique.

Clover Hill Road, a main distributor road at Bowthorpe is on the weekly beat for the mechanical road sweeper. This would be expected to ensure that any further loose stones are picked up. However, whilst this is generally effective, small pockets of parking at the same location may obstruct effective service delivery by our contractor. On one off occasions though officers will, together with the cleansing contractor, work to ensure that motorists are requested to move their vehicles prior to cleansing to address this problem.

The parked vehicles also prevent traffic movement over this new surface that would further embed the new layer of stone into the road surface and reduce displacement of loose stones.

Unfortunately there are no parking restrictions in place and residents cannot be forced to use the parking facilities provided to the rear of the properties.'

Question 14

Councillor Antony Little to the Executive Member for Young People Services and Involvement:-

'Would the Executive Member explain clearly why the Executive opposed the Academy at Heartsease but now supports the one at Earlham?'

Councillor Susan Sands, Executive Member for Young People Services and Involvement's reply:-

'Our position on Heartsease Academy was informed by community feelings and the work undertaken across party lines in this council. I refer Councillor Little to the resolution in council of 26 June 2007 moved by Councillor Waters and seconded by Councillor Cooke, the meetings of Scrutiny committee of 30 and 31 July 2007 and Council on 8 August. Had Councillor Little attended either the Scrutiny meetings or council he may have better remembered that the Council's position on the Heartsease Academy was adopted by council after thorough cross party examination of the issues; evidence taken in Scrutiny Committee and debate in council. The administration has worked within the decision taken by council.

At a Scrutiny committee meeting on July 30th 2007, a number of concerns were raised about the possibility of a Heartsease Academy:-

• Concerns with the feasibility study process; particularly at the style of the questionnaire which, in the opinion of Professor John Elliot (a Governor at the school) defied all the normal rules of public consultation.

• The governors had initially been given the indication when considering their position on supporting the "expression of interest" that they would have the right to veto an Academy proposal in the future. It became clear that this right of veto did not exist so they felt they had been misled.

• Heartsease High was an improving school particularly in respect of "value added". In fact the school was doing very well in engaging and motivating pupils to learn in a disadvantaged area and was one of the top schools in this respect.

• The overall position of the Save Heartsease Campaign was that they have been confronted by "shifting sands", lack of detail and a feasibility study contaminated by promotional emphasis.

• There had been concerns locally about the Cambridge Education consultation process and issues had been raised with the County Council's Chief Executive Officer and in full Council.

This is in contrast to local reception for the proposed Earlham Academy. As I set out below, the public response has been very different, the sponsors are all education providers, and the major area of concern about the lack on community involvement in the Heartsease decision is something we are proposing to seek to rectify with our proposal for a Campus Norwich later on the agenda. That does not alleviate all the concerns but does encourage a more positive reception.

Local reaction to the proposal for an Earlham Academy:-

- Evening News November 15th
- A survey has revealed overwhelming support for transforming Earlham High School into an Academy School in stark contrast to the controversy which surrounded the changes in Heartsease.
- Last month, the Labour campaign team in the University ward in Earlham asked families to tell them what they thought of the move to turn Earlham into an academy.

Their survey showed 75pc wanted the school to become an academy, saying it could help raise the morale, esteem and aspiration and improve educational standards.

Less than 10pc said no. Of those who responded, 93pc said they wanted the UEA to get involved.

Councillor Bremner, who conducted the survey of 3,000 homes, said: "I think this sends a good message to the UEA that people want to see them more involved in the community.

Letter in Thursday November 20th - Evening News from Nick Francis (Chair of Governors):-

"It is our judgement that the academy programme offers an unmissable opportunity to create a school at Earlham fit for the 21st century that will inspire pupils and raise standards and attainment and deliver an iconic building for the benefit of all the community."

Local people want the UEA to get involved and recently we have learned that the UEA will indeed come onboard the partnership:

November 21st – Evening News

"The university will work with the lead sponsor, City College Norwich, Norfolk County Council, and in close collaboration with the school's governing body and with Norwich School to develop an academy for Earlham School."

Professor Edward Acton, Pro-Vice-Chancellor, said:

"Our decision is the outcome of several months of very positive discussions with the county council and other partners about the role that the university can play in the academy. UEA is excited by the prospect of working with its partners on such an important local project. As good neighbours, we want to do all that we can to help young people in Earlham reach their full potential.

It is particularly pleasing that we have the opportunity to work closely with City College Norwich on a project of such value to education in the city. Our two institutions already have a very strong academic relationship and we see this work as a natural extension of that valuable partnership."

The concerns about governance, parental and community involvement are still there and we feel it is the duty of this council to ensure we support them if local support for Earlham Academy is there. The administration will be consistent in listening to the wishes of the local community and in wanting to raise standards at Earlham High.

The two situations are vastly different and I believe that it is only proper that each situation be viewed independently. Would Councillor Little prefer that we take a blanket stance on academies and not review each individual case? We are committed to raising education standards in Norwich schools and academies can be an important part of that endeavour.

I look forward to the debate on our motion in due course as these are important issues for the city and cross party work initiated around the Heartsease Academy should be consolidated by our discussions tonight and hopefully developed within the context of the discussions on the proposal for 'Campus Norwich' with stakeholders.'

Councillor Anthony Little asked, as a supplementary question, whether the Executive Member supported freedom of academies including setting their own curriculums? **Councillor Susan Sands** said that she had addressed this in the answer to the original question.

Question 15

Councillor Niki George to the Executive Member for Children and Young People:-

'Would the Executive Member please update us on progress towards delivering the Skate Park for Norwich, including details on the site, funding and estimated completion date?'

Councillor Susan Sands, Executive Member for Children and Young People's reply:-

'A procurement process has been put in place which is progressing and potential suppliers have been shortlisted. A meeting was held with the shortlisted suppliers with a representative of the skateboard user group to inform the preparation of full tender bids. The deadline for the return of tenders is 28 November 2008 and then evaluation will take place to appoint a supplier. The tender requires the work to be completed by 15 May 2009.

Planning permission has been granted and officers will be considering how the conditions are progressed as part of the procurement process.

The skate park will be located adjacent to the existing multi-use games area. A requirement of the design submitted by the suppliers is that the existing skate facility is incorporated into the new skate park.

Once the tenders have been evaluated the successful proposal will be submitted to the Capital Programme Board for approval.'

Councillor Niki George asked, as a supplementary question, whether the Executive Member could confirm the location and assure us it would go ahead? **Councillor Sands** said that subject to the review of the Capital Programme by the Capital Programme Board the skate park would be installed at Eaton Park near the community centre.

Question 16

Councillor Evelyn Collishaw to the Executive Member for Neighbourhood Development:-

'Could the Executive Member tell us what plans, if any, there are to improve Pointers Field and when they might take place?'

Councillor Linda Blakeway, Executive Member for Neighbourhood Development's reply:-

'Norwich is fortunate in having a rich and varied range of parks, open spaces and play facilities and the Council is always seeking ways to improve areas such as Pointers Field.

Funding to improve these facilities comes from a range of internal sources including money from revenue budgets and the capital programme, along with external sources of funding such as those funds created by new residential development "commuted sums" and through applications to grant programmes such as those available through the National Lottery. All of these funding streams will have restrictions on what and where they can be spent.

An opportunity has recently arisen for a commuted sum for 'children's play space' that can be used the Catton Grove area. The Council is also waiting for the arrival of additional play space funding from another local development. Once the level of funding is clear and timescales have been agreed, officers will develop proposals for spending in Catton Grove based on the Council's Play Strategy in conjunction with local ward councillors and through consultation with the local community. This will then be reported to the Executive for approval.

As she was not present at the last meeting, Councillor Collishaw may also be pleased to hear that Pointers Field was identified as a SNAP priority at the Mile Cross, Catton and Fiddlewood SNAP meeting held on 10th November 2008. Members of the community raised a number of concerns around the Pointers Field area including poor lighting, dog fouling, litter, motorbikes using the park and damage to fencing surrounding the park.

Following the SNAP meeting, a walkabout was held in Pointers Field on 17th November involving Council officers, members of the SNAP panel and representatives from local TRA's to look at the area in more detail and discuss the issues raised.

On 21st November the SNAP panel met again to develop an action plan to address the Pointers Field issues. At this meeting it was established that concerns around the lack of lighting between Copenhagen Way and George Pope Rd will need to be addressed by the County Council as the pathway forms part of an adopted highway. Concerns around litter, dog fouling and anti-social behaviour in the park will be addressed through increased patrols by both the Community Wardens and the Police. The litter bins which have been vandalised will be replaced and park maintenance will be scrutinised to ensure that the frequency and effectiveness of the work undertaken meets agreed standards set out in the maintenance schedule. We will also be approaching Lidls to see if the community noticeboard currently in the park could be relocated to the store entrance where it will be less vulnerable to vandalism. This action plan will be implemented over the next three months and results will be reported at the next SNAP meeting to be held February 9th 2009.'

Councillor Evelyn Collishaw said she did not feel she had an answer to her question and asked again when the improvements might take place and what funding was left in the budget for green spaces? **Councillor Linda Blakeway** said that as her original answer had said, the priorities raised at the SNAP meeting would be addressed and as the lighting was the main problem this was Norfolk County Council's responsibility. She hoped that the County Councillor for Catton Grove would follow this up. Planning improvements rely on Section 106 funding and developers had 7 years to pay. There was 2 years left for this funding but she hoped that it would be available earlier.

Question 17

Councillor Judith Lubbock to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'In view of the difficulties associated with some aspects of the latest Alternative Waste Collection roll out in the terraced streets of the Golden Triangle could the Executive Member clarify under what circumstances roads will be excluded from the scheme?'

Councillor Brian Morrey, Executive Member for Sustainable City Development's reply:-

'In February 0f 2007 Members agreed to adopt the Integrated Waste Management Strategy 2007 – 2012 and the Action Plan which set-out how the new strategy would be implemented. Section D of the Action Plan states that the Council will "In all areas possible introduce alternate weekly wheeled bin collection of residual/recyclable waste. (Base service is intended to be edge of curtilage service using 240 litre wheeled bins)".

Officers carried-out a house-by-house survey to determine areas where wheeled bins could be deployed and to record the number of wheeled bins that could be stored at each individual location. The majority of properties have gardens or land attached, either at the front or back, or in many cases both. All of these properties have the physical space for storing bins.

There is no catch-all definition to determine which streets can be included or excluded from the scheme. Local topography, access issues and operational considerations mean that in some situations individual solutions are required. As an example, Mill Hill Road properties can invariably find space to accommodate bins but many have significant stepped areas which severely impede the movement of wheeled bins. As a result it was decided to keep these properties on weekly sack collections. As another example, the streets around Chalk Hill Road have steep, uneven cobbled alleys and high kerbs along with some stepped front gardens which meant the continuation of the existing black sack service was considered to be the most practical solution at present.

If there are issues with storage or access please let us know the specific details so they can be investigated. Where problems have arisen solutions have been found by working with individual residents.'

Question 18

Councillor David Fairbairn to the Executive Member of Corporate Resources and Governance:-

'St Andrew's and Blackfriar's Halls are scheduled for regeneration, with work likely to extend from 2011 till 2013. What alternative venues are there for the events that normally take place in these halls, and in particular, the annual Beer Festival?'

Councillor Alan Waters, Executive Member of Corporate Resources and Governance's reply:-

'For existing users such as the beer festival and the Norwich festival we will be working directly with the organisers to ensure that the events can proceed, and we will be doing this directly with all current users. We are confident that whilst some compromises are bound to have to be made, as the Halls are such a unique facility, all events can still take place.

We are taking a slightly different approach for new bookings, by drawing up a list of alternatives, and working with those other venues so they are aware of our demand. It is again very important that these other opportunities for events are not lost.

To achieve the ambitions set for the Halls disruption is inevitable; however it is also vital for the city, and the new facilities, that no events are lost. A key part of the project planning is to ensure that we effectively plan and manage through any periods of disruption, and we receive great support from our partners HEART and our team on site in this process.'

In reply to a supplementary question by **Councillor David Fairbairn**, **Councillor Alan Waters** emphasised that there was enough time to plan ahead and reassured members that every effort would be made to ensure that the annual events could still take place.

Question 19

Councillor Rosalind Wright to the Leader of the Council:-

'In light of the problems at the 'Sparks in the Park' fireworks event, can the Executive member assure Council that procedure will be put in place to ensure that these problems are not repeated next year, and could they outline the costs and procedure undertaken to resolve this year's problems.'

Councillor Steve Morphew, Leader of the Council's reply:-

'The main problem was the weather and I wish the council had more control over that, so sadly, and given that this event always takes place at a time of year when the weather is even less reliable the options are limited. Our Events team does an amazing job behind the scenes at all our events and they are to be congratulated for making sure the thousands of people who braved the weather had a great display to enjoy. When I was up there I saw many of them drenched, bedraggled but full of determination. So my congratulations and thanks to the Events team and I am sure council will join me in this.

As a result of the heavy rain on Saturday there was superficial damage to Earlham Park. The Events Team did as much as they could to ensure the damage was kept to a minimum and this included closing the car park to vehicles at 6.45 p.m., as well as leaving some heavy vehicles while the ground remained saturated.

Whilst it is important for the Council to put on major events, which are enjoyed by thousands of people, it is equally important to ensure that the impact and any

damage is kept to a minimum. After an event officers will always assess if any damage has been made and carry out any necessary works to get the site restored.

Works to repair the damage to Earlham Park have been identified, and will involve harrowing, levelling and dry rolling, followed by re-soiling where necessary and re-seeding in some areas.

Actually the damage and inconvenience was minimal and I think most people in the city understand that to organise a big event for the enjoyment of the city will lead to some inconvenience and consequence – especially where high explosives are involved. If the alternative is cancelling or nor organising such events then Norwich would be a poorer place and I would not countenance it.

As we know, Norwich loves fireworks and the almost 100 events staged by the City council every year. The risk of rain, a bit of inconvenience and need for some reparation is a small price for the value these events add to the vibrancy of our city.'

Councillor Rosalind Wright asked, as a supplementary question, what would the costs be? **Councillor Steve Morphew** emphasised that the costs would not be an additional burden on the budget and he would let her have the final figure.

Question 20

Question relating to Urgent Matters (Appendix 1, Rule 12.3 (ii))

The following question relating to urgent matters was taken with the consent of the Executive Member for Corporate Resources and Governance.

Councillor Janet Bearman to the Executive Member for Sustainable City Development:-

'What is the Executive's assessment of how well the Council dealt with the snow at the weekend?'

Councillor Brian Morrey, Executive Member for Sustainable City Development's reply:-

'The weather conditions over the weekend were particularly challenging. However the Council has a well rehearsed and robust winter maintenance plan developed as part of the wider Norfolk winter maintenance plan. Both I and the Leader of the council asked for these to be rechecked when the weather forecast said snow was on the way.

During this weekend CityCare completed 9 gritting runs, spreading 237.25 tonnes of salt. In addition, about 2300 litres of brine was spread on City centre footways.

Each gritting run begun at:

Friday	18:45	40g/m
Saturday	05:45 16:00	20g/m 20g/m 20g/m 20g/m
Sunday	09:15 11:20	20g/m 20g/m 40g/m 20g/m

Snow ploughs were on stand by on Sunday though were not fitted as they only remove snow above 5 cm depth.

The routes which are gritted are the main roads in the City, key pedestrian routes in the City Centre and bus routes. On other roads 215 grit bins are supplied at strategic locations (e.g. hills) for the public to use.

During mid-morning on the Sunday there was heavy snowfall over a relatively short period. As a consequence, whilst the roads had been gritted, it took time for the grit to work into the snow and be effective at melting it. This led to problems for motorists on some of the hills in the City for a period.

With winter now on us motorists are now being advised to:

- check the weather forecast and leave extra time for journeys in poorer weather conditions;
- consider if the journey is absolutely necessary in the most severe weather and avoid or delay driving unless absolutely essential until road conditions improve and we have had time to grit the roads and for that treatment to have effect;
- ensure their vehicle is properly serviced, paying special attention to tyre pressures and tread depth;
- reduce speed and take extra care when driving on both treated and untreated roads;
- allow more space between you and the vehicle in front and try to brake more gently.

We would also ask members of the public to remember that the response plans for bad weather can only mitigate and try to prevent the consequences. We cannot prevent weather events or errors made by people not used to driving in challenging conditions or driving without the care these conditions demand.'

Councillor Janet Bearman asked, as a supplementary question, how the Council intended to get the relevant advice across to the public? **Councillor Brian Morrey** emphasised that it was the Highway Authority's responsibility and therefore Norfolk County Council would give the relevant advice. However, he would be looking at how the Council's own communications team could help.